STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Aiken County

MAR 27 2017

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID GLOVER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001144

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in failing to recharge the jury on self-defense where the jury was charged on both attempted murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature three times during the course of the trial court's original jury charge and re-charges, such that, under the totality of the circumstances, the jury charge was unbalanced and prejudicial to the defendant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 4, 2014, the Aiken County grand jury indicted Appellant David Glover for attempted murder, first degree burglary, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R. 355.

On May 13-14, 2015, Glover appeared before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury for a trial. Glover was represented by C. David Hayes and Michael Routzong. The State was represented by assistant solicitors Jeffrey Slocum, Jr. and Cassie Hall. R. 1. The jury found Glover not guilty of first degree burglary but guilty of attempted murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R. 341, l. 9 – 342, l. 4. On May 18, 2015, Glover was sentenced by Judge McMahon to concurrent sentences of twenty-five years for attempted murder and five years for the weapons offense. R. 352.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Glover's charges arose from an incident with his long-time girlfriend, Vernell Weaver on May 10, 2014. The two were in a relationship for thirteen years, ten of which were "steady" and the more recent of which were "off and on." R. 49, ll. 6-17; R. 253, ll. 17-20. Glover admitted that he shot Weaver but testified that he did so in self-defense after she attacked him with a hammer. R. 255, l. 4 – 259, l. 21.

### ***Evidence at Trial***

The night prior to the incident, Weaver stayed the night with her boyfriend, George Mackey. R. 50, ll. 5-22. On the morning of the incident, Mackey went out of town and Weaver called Glover and asked him to give her a ride. R. 50, l. 24 – 51, l. 17; R. 250, l. 19 – 251, l. 9. Despite the ambiguous status of their relationship, Glover and Weaver shared a residence and Weaver kept clothing there. R. 253, ll. 5-20. They had discussed going to eat at a local church but instead made several stops, including one for Weaver to purchase crack cocaine. R. 250, l. 19 – 252, l. 20. They eventually arrived at their shared residence, where Weaver smoked a portion of the cocaine. R. 252, l. 21 – 254, l. 4. After twenty to thirty minutes, they left and went back to Mackey's residence. They parked down the road because Weaver did not want Mackey's "neighbors in her business." R. 254, ll. 7-24. Glover was invited in by Weaver. He sat down and talked to her while she went in another room and smoked the rest of her cocaine. R. 255, ll. 2-18. Weaver asked Glover for money so she could buy more drugs but he did not have any. The two got into an argument, which turned physical. R. 255, l. 19 – 256, l. 12.

Weaver picked up a hammer and swung it at Glover. R. 256, ll. 13-25. The two fought over the hammer, causing Glover to fall into and break a portion of the sheet rock

wall. He described Weaver as “in a rage.” They continued to fight and both fell through the front door onto the porch, breaking the glass. R. 257, l. 1 – 258, l. 6. As they fell through the door, Glover pulled out his gun. As he tried to get up from the porch, he fired two shots while Weaver continued to swing the hammer. R. 258, l. 7 – 259, l. 14. One of the bullets hit Weaver. According to the treating physician, Dr. Bradford Huffman, the bullet that struck Weaver either came upward from a lower area or that she was turned and braced against something when she was shot. R. 235, ll. 9-23. Notably, Weaver did not claim that she was turned away at the time she was shot. Rather, she said: “[W]hen I saw the gun go up, that’s when I felt the bullet. I felt it. Then I turned, and I ran.” R. 56, ll. 8-9.

After being struck by a bullet, Weaver ran into the bedroom and leaned up against the door. Glover climbed through the hole made in the wall during the fight so that he could see if Weaver was alright. He was unsure at that point if she was injured. R. 259, l. 15 – 261, l. 14. Weaver dialed 911 on her cell phone. On the recording of the call, Weaver is heard screaming and says: “I won’t hit you no more.” R. 290, ll. 3-15; State’s Ex. 3 (CD of 911 call), on file with this Court. Weaver ran out of the house to the neighbors’ house, followed by Glover. Glover attempted to get Weaver to let go of the hammer, but she would not. When the neighbors called the police, Glover left and hid in the woods before turning himself in to the police. R. 261, l. 15 – 263, l. 25. Glover later turned himself in and was interviewed by police on May 11, 2014. R. 263, ll. 24-25; see also R. 33, l. 15 – 43, l. 16.

Weaver told a different story to the jury. She claimed that she could not recall who called who, but that Glover offered to pick her up from near Mackey’s house so that

she could get some fresh clothing. R. 50, l. 24 – 51, l. 17. Weaver said that when they got their shared home, she and Glover talked about their relationship and whether they would try to “work things out.” Glover asked her where Mackey was and she told him that he was away with his niece. Weaver then got her clothes together and Glover dropped her off back on a nearby street and she walked the rest of the way to Mackey’s house. According to Weaver, she declined Glover’s offer to drive her up to the house itself. R. 51, l. 18 – 52, l. 8.

Weaver claimed that she was in the bedroom at Mackey’s house when she heard banging and saw Glover “standing at the screen door.” She saw a gun go up and felt the bullet. She turned and ran into the bedroom. R. 55, l. 24 – 56, l. 11. Weaver claimed that Glover then broke through the wall and came into the bedroom as she was dialing 911. R. 56, ll. 12-19. She grabbed his arm and they tussled across the bed while she tried to get the gun from him. She then tried to throw the gun out the window but Glover pulled her back. R. 56, l. 21 – 57, l. 3. Weaver further alleged that Glover attempted to shoot her twice more in the stomach but that the gun would not fire. R. 57, ll. 4-10. She then ran through the living room, picked up the hammer, tripped and fell on some glass, and ran to the neighbors’ house. R. 118, l. 20 – 119, l. 12. She admitted that she tested positive for cocaine at the hospital but denied having purchased any cocaine on the day of the incident. R. 72, ll. 12-16.

Weaver also had gunshot residue on her back right hand and her left palm, which the solicitor implied could have come from her efforts to take the gun from Glover. R. 196, l. 2 – 197, l. 4; R. 201, ll. 20-24. However, Weaver testified that she is right handed. R. 82, ll. 16-18. Thus, defense counsel argued that it was doubtful that Weaver would

grab for the gun with her left hand. He argued that the gunshot residue contradicted Weaver's claim that she was shot from far away and through the door. Rather, Weaver was more likely shot in the midst of the struggle while clenching the hammer in a fist made by her right hand. R. 200, l. 13 – 201, l. 13; R. 290, l. 24 – 291, l. 19. Defense counsel also noted the testimony and photograph that showed that the glass in the door was primarily on the front porch and that the chain was still latched. Thus, it appeared that the door was broken from the inside, as indicated by Glover. R. 128, ll. 2-17; R. 289, ll. 5-23; State's Ex. 29, 30, 31 (photographs of door), on file with this Court.

### ***Jury Charges and Recharges***

In addition to the standard criminal jury instructions and instructions on the indicted offenses, the jury was initially charged on assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature ("ABHAN"), first degree assault, and self-defense. R. 272 – 282 (charge conference); R. 302 – 324 (original jury charge). The jury was subsequently recharged three times, once at the request of defense counsel and twice in response to jury questions. R. 327, l. 24 – 330, l. 12 (recharge on attempted murder); R. 332, l. 24 – 335, l. 19 (recharge on attempted murder and ABHAN); R. 339, ll. 5-23 (recharge on ABHAN). The first recharge was on attempted murder. It occurred after defense counsel pointed out the then recent opinion of this Court in State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015) (holding that specific intent to commit murder is an element of attempted murder), *cert granted*, S.C. Sup. Ct. Order dated Mar. 28, 2016.<sup>1</sup> R. 324 – 330. The jury began its deliberations at 5:28 p.m. R. 331, l. 11.

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial judge originally charged the jury: "The specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder. There must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury." R. 315, ll. 23-25.

The jury submitted a written question to the court, asking: "What is the difference between guilty of attempted murder and guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature." R. 331, ll. 14-18; R. 353. At 6:22 p.m. the jury entered the courtroom, at which time the trial judge recharged the jury on both attempted murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. R. 332, l. 24 – 335, l. 19. The judge then asked the solicitor and defense counsel if they had any objections. Defense counsel responded: "We would just ask the Court to consider re-instructing on self-defense as well." R. 336, ll. 13-17. The trial court denied Appellant's request to recharge the jury on self-defense based on State v. Anderson, 322 S.C. 89, 470 S.E.2d 103 (1996). R. 337, ll. 1-20.

The jury later sent a second question, asking "Can you give an example of guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature without reading the law?" R. 337, l. 24 – 338, l. 2; R. 353. At 8:01 p.m. the jury returned to the courtroom and the judge told them that the "short answer to that is no" and explained the jury's role as the finder of facts. He further explained that it is impermissible for him to give an example, as such would be a comment on the facts. R. 338, l. 10 – 339, l. 4; R. 339, ll. 9-14. However, the judge provided an abbreviated definition of ABHAN, saying: "I can tell you the statute is, of course, one person unlawfully injures another person and either great bodily injury as defined by the statute is also present or the act was accomplished by means likely to present death or great bodily injury." R. 339, ll. 5-9. He then repeated:

If you find that the State has proved those elements or has not proved those elements beyond a reasonable doubt, based on your facts and the law as I told you, you would find the defendant not guilty. If you find the State has met its burden of proof and you compare those facts to the standard of the law and you found the State has proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt as to that charge or whatever charge, you would find the defendant guilty.

R. 339, ll. 15-23.

The jury was **never** recharged on the elements of self-defense or that the State has the burden of disproving self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>2</sup> See R. 318, l. 19 – 320, l. 19. At 8:18 p.m., the jury reported that it had reached a verdict. R. 340, ll. 15-16. The jury convicted Glover of attempted murder and the weapons offense but acquitted him of the burglary charge. R. 341, ll. 9-21.

---

<sup>2</sup> Though defense counsel did not again request a recharge on self-defense after the third recharge of the jury, such a request would have been futile based on the trial court's ruling upon his prior request for a recharge on self-defense. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 415, 529 S.E.2d 543, 547 (2000) (“This Court does not require parties to engage in futile actions in order to preserve issues for appellate review.”).

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court erred in failing to recharge the jury on self-defense where the jury was charged on both attempted murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature three times during the course of the trial court's original jury charge and re-charges, such that, under the totality of the circumstances, the jury charge was unbalanced and prejudicial to the defendant.**

In State v. Anderson, our Supreme Court wrote: "It is well established in South Carolina that '[w]hen a jury requests an additional charge, it is sufficient for the court to charge only those matters necessary to answer the jury's request.'" 322 S.C. 89, 94, 470 S.E.2d 103, 106 (1996). Upon reviewing Anderson, the trial judge in Glover's case refused defense counsel's request to recharge self-defense, finding that he had "answered the jury's question." R. 337, ll. 17-18. Respectfully, there are exceptional cases where the repeated recharging of the elements of two of the offenses, without any additional reference to the defenses properly raised at trial, can result in an unbalanced jury charge prejudicial to the defendant. See United States v. Meadows, 598 F.2d 984, 990 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979) ("It is well-established that in giving additional instructions to a jury; particularly in response to inquiries from the jury, a court must be especially careful not to give an unbalanced charge.").

Our Courts have long recognized that a charge on self-defense has a special status, separate from a King<sup>3</sup> charge or charges on lesser-included offenses, in part because of an individual's right to defend himself. See, e.g. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011) ("[W]hen a defendant claims self-defense, the State is required to disprove the

---

<sup>3</sup> State v. King, 158 S.C. 251, 155 S.E.409 (1930) (holding that trial court should instruct the jury that if they had any reasonable doubt as to whether unlawful killing was murder or manslaughter, it was jury's duty to convict defendant of the lesser offense, manslaughter).

elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.”); State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 660-61, 244 S.E.2d 503, 507 (1978) (“Once the appellant’s right to fire in self-defense arose, he was not required to wait until his adversary was on equal terms or until he fired or aimed his weapon.”); State v. McGee, 185 S.C. 184, 193 S.E. 303, 305 (1937) (“Self defense is a plea that any person charged with murder may plead. It is a right that has come to us from time immemorial to defend yourself against serious bodily harm or death.”); State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 443, 377 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1989) (“In charging self-defense, we instruct the trial court to consider the facts and circumstances of the case at bar in order to fashion an appropriate charge.”). In a case like this, where Glover admitted that he fired the weapon that shot Weaver, his assertion of self-defense was of paramount importance. Considering the original charge and three additional recharges as a whole, the trial court overemphasized the offenses of attempted murder and ABHAN by charging them both three times, creating an unbalanced charge prejudicial to Glover.

In Anderson, our Supreme Court found no error in the court’s refusal to give a second King<sup>4</sup> charge where a King charge was given in the original instructions and the jury only asked to be recharged on the definitions of murder, malice, and involuntary manslaughter. 322 S.C. at 94, 470 S.E.2d at 106. The Court found: “It is well established in South Carolina that “[w]hen a jury requests an additional charge, it is sufficient for the court to charge only those matters necessary to answer the jury’s request.” Id. The Anderson Court cited State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 216, 428 S.E.2d 498, 502 (Ct.App.1993), where the Court found no error in failure to recharge jury that “that any reasonable doubt as to whether the defense had been established should be resolved in his

---

<sup>4</sup> State v. King, 158 S.C. 251, 155 S.E.409 (1930).

favor” where judge recharged the elements of self-defense in response to the jury’s request and no objection was made to the original charge on self-defense. Notably, neither Anderson nor Barksdale dealt with the failure to recharge the complete defense asserted by the defendant after *repeated* recharges on the charged offenses. Thus, Glover’s case is distinguishable.

Similar to the South Carolina courts, The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that “a trial court *generally* may limit a supplemental charge to the specific instruction requested by the jury.” United States v. Ehrlich, 902 F.2d 327, 330 (5th Cir.1990), *cert. denied*, 498 U.S. 1069, 111 S.Ct. 788 (1991) (emphasis added). However, the Fifth Circuit has advised the lower courts that:

**In giving additional instructions to a jury— particularly in response to inquiries from the jury— the court should be especially careful not to give an unbalanced charge.** If the Judge chooses to give any additional charge and elects not to repeat the entire original charge, he should remind the jury of the burden and quantum of proof and presumption of innocence or remind them that all instructions must be considered as a whole or take other appropriate steps to avoid any possibility of prejudice to the defendant.

United States v. Sutherland, 428 F.2d 1152, 1157-58 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1970) (emphasis added).

In Ehrlich, the jury was initially charged orally but was later given a partial written recharge in response to a request for a recharge. 902 F.2d at 330. In such a circumstance, the Ehrlich Court found “there is no error unless, under the totality of the circumstances, the court’s written response creates an unbalanced charge prejudicial to the defendant.” Id. There is a concern that giving supplemental, partial written instructions to the jury “creates a risk that the jury will perceive the writing as embodying the more important instructions, inviting greater attention to the principles that are repeated in writing than those simply recited orally.” Rickman v. Georgia, 587 S.E.2d

596, 598 n. 5 (Ga. 2003); see also State v. Wright, 630 A.2d 772 (N.H. 1993) (“recogniz[ing] the potential for prejudice inherent in any charge in which some oral instructions are repeated to the jury in written form, while others are not.”).

Regardless of whether the supplemental instructions are given orally or in writing, the same risk of creating an unbalanced charge is present. In United States v. Meadows, 598 F.2d 984, 990 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979), the Fifth Circuit wrote that “the particular significance of a supplemental charge when a jury has been unable to reach a decision on the basis of all it has heard up until that time demands an exacting sensitivity on the part of the trial court to give an accurate and balanced instruction.” In United States v. Carter, the Court wrote:

When after an hour and 40 minutes of deliberation a jury returns, not with a verdict, but with a request for clarification of a particular point of law, it must be recognized that the jury has been unable to reach a decision on the basis of all it has heard up until that time. Under those circumstances a trial judge must be acutely sensitive to the probability that the jurors will listen to his additional instructions with particular interest and will rely more heavily on such instructions than on any single portion of the original charge. **Thus, the court must exercise special care to see that inaccuracy or imbalance in supplemental instructions do not poison an otherwise healthy trial.**

491 F.2d 625, 633 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1974) (emphasis added); see also Bollenbach v. United States, 326 U.S. 607, 612, 66 S.Ct. 402 (1946) (“Particularly in a criminal trial, the judge’s last word is apt to be the decisive word. If it is a specific ruling on a vital issue and misleading, the error is not cured by a prior unexceptional and unilluminating abstract charge.”). In the present case, the jury’s first question to the Court was sent a little less than one hour they began deliberations. The jury was still requesting guidance from the court after approximately two and half hours of deliberation, such that there was