ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001144

RECEIVED

AUG 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID GLOVER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN M. WILSON
Attorney General

RANEE SAUNDERS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-2508

J. STROM THURMOND, JR.
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

P.O. Drawer 3368
Aiken, South Carolina 29802
(803) 642-1557

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court did not err in declining to recharge the jury on self-defense because the jury did not request it nor did the trial court's failure to recharge self-defense render the charge as a whole imbalanced or unduly prejudicial to Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the September 2014 term of the grand jury for Aiken County for attempted murder, first-degree burglary, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. On May 13, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial by jury and was found guilty of attempted murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. He was sentenced by the Honorable R. Knox McMahon to twenty-five years' imprisonment for the attempted murder conviction and five years' imprisonment for the possession of a firearm conviction, to be served concurrently. Appellant timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his convictions and sentence and subsequently submitted a Brief. This Brief of Respondent follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

David Glover (Appellant) was indicted for attempted murder, first-degree burglary, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime after attacking his former paramour, Vernell Weaver. (R.11.) At trial, Weaver testified that on the day of the incident she spoke with Appellant and asked him to come pick her up from George Mackey's house so she could retrieve some clothes from their home.¹ (R.50.) Appellant agreed and after taking her home, he dropped her back off at Mackey's house. (R.52.) Once inside, Weaver began making herself something to eat when she heard a banging at the door and saw Appellant standing at the door. (R.56.) Before she could speak, Appellant drew a gun and shot her through the neck. (R.56.) Weaver turned, ran into the bedroom, and dialed 911. (R.56.) Although she shut the door, Appellant came through the wall and the two began to tussle on the bed as Weaver attempted to wrestle the gun away from him. (R.56.) However, Appellant took the gun back and attempted to shoot Weaver again in the stomach.² (R.57.) Weaver was able to get away from him and ran through the living room, grabbing a hammer that was on the floor as she headed out of the house towards the home of Otis and Almetha Green. (R.58–89.)

Almetha Green then testified that she was in the kitchen when she heard Weaver yelling about having been shot as she ran towards the house. (R.86.) Weaver eventually reached the porch and sat in a chair, still clutching the hammer. (R.89–90.) Appellant, who had chased Weaver to the Green's house, tried to pull the hammer from her hand. (R.90.) Almetha got her husband, Otis Green, who told Appellant to leave Weaver alone and threatened to call the police. (R.89.) Almetha eventually called the police and Appellant ran away when he heard the sirens.

¹ Although it appeared Weaver and Appellant were not romantically involved at the time, they still shared a home. (R.50.)

² Appellant pulled the trigger; however, the gun did not fire. (R.57)

(R.89.) Otis similarly testified that on the day of the incident he was awakened by Almetha, and he went with her to the porch to find Weaver sitting on the porch with Appellant standing over her trying to get the hammer out of her hand. (R.100.)

Dr. Bradford Huffman testified as an expert in oral and maxillofacial trauma and treatment. (R.216.) He described how when Weaver was shot, the bullet entered her right neck, passed through the floor of her mouth and her tongue, and exited through the left side of her lip. (R.220.) He further explained that this type of injury was associated with a high level of mortality. (R.223.)

Appellant testified in his own defense. He testified Weaver called him the morning of the incident about getting something to eat at the church, and they arranged for Appellant to pick her up. (R.250.) He claimed that on the way, Weaver requested they make a stop to pick up some crack before they returned to their shared home, where Weaver smoked the crack she had acquired. (R.252–253.) After that, Appellant stated he drove Weaver back to Mackey's house and accompanied her inside where she began to smoke the remainder of her crack. (R.255.) Appellant claimed that once Weaver consumed all her crack she asked him for money so she could purchase more to smoke; when he responded he did not have any cash, she began to hit him and they began a physical altercation. (R.255–256.) Appellant maintained the fight escalated and Weaver eventually grabbed a hammer and began swinging it at him and they began to struggle over the hammer, knocking through a wall and the glass front door. (R.257–258.) Appellant testified he then withdrew a gun and shot at Weaver twice. (R.259.) He followed her into the bedroom, going through the wall because the door was locked. (R.260.) They continued to fight until Weaver left and ran to the neighbors' home. (R.264.)

The defense then rested and the trial court discussed jury charges. Ultimately, the trial court instructed the jury on burglary, attempted murder, ABHAN, first-degree assault and battery, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime and self-defense. (R.311–320.) After sending the jury to deliberate, Appellant objected, citing *State v. King*, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015), *certiorari granted* (S.C. Sup. Ct. Order dated March 28, 2016), because the trial court had charged the jury it must only find a general intent to commit serious bodily harm as opposed to a specific intent to kill. (R.324.) After reviewing the case, the trial court brought the jury back in and recharged it on attempted murder, this time stating that the “State must prove specific intent to commit murder as an element of attempted murder.” (R.329.) The jury returned to deliberations. (R.331.)

The jury subsequently submitted the question: “What is the difference between guilty of attempted murder and guilty of [ABHAN].” (R.331.) The trial court proposed recharging attempted murder and ABHAN, and neither party objected. (R.331.) After the court delivered its recharge and the jury exited, Appellant requested “the Court to consider re – instructing self-defense as well.” (R.336.) The State objected and the court ultimately declined to recharge the jury, citing *State v. Anderson*, 322 S.C. 89, 94, 470 S.E.2d 103, 106 (1996), for the proposition that a trial court need only answer the questions asked. (R.337.)

The jury then submitted another question: “Can you give an example of guilty of [ABHAN] without reading the law.” (R.337–338.) After bringing the jury back, the trial court clarified it could not provide examples for fear that could be interpreted as a comment on the facts. (Tr.400–01.) Instead, the trial court reiterated the language of the statute and reminded the jury it must determine the facts and compare them to the law. (R.339.) Finally, the trial court

reminded the jury the State must prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. (R.339.) The jury then returned to deliberations and neither party noted any objections. (R.340.)

Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty of attempted murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and not guilty of burglary. (R.341.) The trial court sentenced him to twenty-five years' imprisonment on the attempted murder charge and five years' imprisonment on the possession charge, to be served concurrently. (R.352.)

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in declining to recharge the jury on self-defense because the jury did not request it nor did the trial court's failure to recharge self-defense render the charge as a whole imbalanced or unduly prejudicial to Appellant.

The trial court did not err in declining to recharge the jury on self-defense because the jury did not request it and the charge was not unbalanced or unduly prejudicial to Appellant.

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 550, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). “It is well established in South Carolina that ‘[w]hen a jury requests an additional charge, it is sufficient for the court to charge only those matters necessary to answer the jury's request.’” *State v. Anderson*, 322 S.C. 89, 94, 470 S.E.2d 103, 106 (1996) (alteration in original) (citing *State v. Barksdale*, 311 S.C. 210, 216, 428 S.E.2d 498, 502 (Ct. App. 1993)).

At the outset, the State notes Appellant embellishes the nature of the recharges and the character of his objections. First, the trial court recharged attempted murder *at Appellant's request* to clarify that the State must prove he acted with the specific intent to kill—a recharge that can hardly be characterized as beneficial to the State. Second, after the subsequent recharge on both ABHAN and attempted murder, it was not until the jury exited the courtroom and returned to deliberations that Appellant suggested the trial court recharge self-defense. Thus, his request was not simply that the trial court charge self-defense along with the offenses, but he asked that the jury be brought back in for the sole purpose of recharging it on a matter on which it had expressed no confusion. Finally, as to the third recharge, the trial court simply restated the elements of ABHAN and reminded the jury of the State's burden of proof. Appellant never objected to this recharge, nor did he renew his request that the trial court recharge the law of self-defense. Accordingly, in addressing Appellant's claimed abuse of discretion, the only arguably

preserved objection is his after-the-fact request that the jury be brought back in the courtroom after returning to deliberations and recharged on self-defense.

The trial court's rejection of this request can hardly be claimed an abuse of its discretion as to comply would not only be unnecessary under the law, but would threaten to be a comment on the facts by inviting the jury to focus on self-defense, thus manifesting the type of imbalance Appellant ostensibly abhors. Further, despite Appellant's protestations, he simply cannot circumvent the precedent standing staunchly against his position. The trial court adhered to well-established law in answering *only* the jury's questions. *See Anderson*, 322 S.C. at 94, 470 S.E.2d at 106 (citing the well-established law that where the jury makes a request, it is sufficient that the court recharge only those matters necessary to answer the jury's question).

Nevertheless, Appellant complains his is a special case, relying on the fact that the right to defend oneself is sacrosanct and therefore his circumstances represent the exception to settled law. However, simply because the trial court deemed a charge on self-defense appropriate does not correspondingly grant Appellant the right to an imbalanced charge in his favor, which is precisely what would result from the court injecting a self-defense charge needlessly into its response to the jury. Appellant mistakes the rationale of existing jurisprudence, assuming the substance of what is being charged should be determinative, where instead the undergirding of our case law is basic logic. The law is no more profound than allowing the trial court to answer only the questions asked of it because inserting another charge in its response, regardless of the legal substance, would needlessly and unduly emphasize that instruction. While certainly the Appellant is entitled to a fair charge, he is not entitled to a charge specifically highlighting his theory of self-defense.

Equally unpersuasive is Appellant's foray into jurisprudence from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit for support, as that court is in accord with South Carolina's well-established law of only requiring a trial court to answer the questions asked of it in recharging the jury. *United States v. Ehrlich*, 902 F.2d 327, 330 (5th Cir. 1990) ("A trial court generally may limit a supplemental charge to the specific instruction requested by the jury. As we have said before, there is no error if the trial judge in supplemental instructions charges exactly as he was requested." (internal quotations and citations omitted)). Appellant seems to cling to the notion that simply stating there may be exceptions proves he is an exception. However, the simplicity of his case is incontrovertible. There can be no clearer application of settled law. The jury was charged on attempted murder and ABHAN in response to its question as to the difference between the two. Again, it was not until the jury left the courtroom that Appellant considered requesting a charge on self-defense, which the trial court properly declined as neither responsive to the question asked, nor appropriate to bring up *sua sponte* while the jury was deliberating. As the case law cited by Appellant notes, "[t]he influence of the trial judge on the jury is necessarily and properly of great weight and jurors are ever watchful of the words that fall from him. Particularly in a criminal trial, the judge's last word is apt to be the decisive word." *Bollenbach v. United States*, 326 U.S. 607, 612 (1946) (internal citations omitted). The final sentiment the trial court offered reiterated the State's burden of proof. Therefore, despite the fact that Appellant did not object to the trial court's final recharge, it nevertheless tailored its conclusion to benefit Appellant. Furthermore, injecting an unrequested recharge on self-defense into deliberations would undermine the role of the judge as a neutral arbiter of the law. *See State v. Kennedy*, 272 S.C. 231, 234, 250 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1978) ("A fundamental concept of our system of justice is that every person charged with a crime has an absolute right to a fair and

impartial trial. Basic to this concept is the requirement of neutrality on the part of the trial judge, and it is imperative that he exercise a high degree of restraint, caution, and circumspection in making remarks or comments in the presence of the jury.”). Accordingly, the trial court committed no error in declining to recharge the jury on self-defense.

CONCLUSION